THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 19 2021  
SC Court of Appeals

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Greenwood County  
Greenwood County Court of Common Pleas  
Hon. Judge Donald B. Hocker, Family Court Judge, Presiding

\_\_\_\_\_  
2020-000917  
\_\_\_\_\_

Karen Petit.....Appellant,

Versus

Phyllis Jean Krohn, USAA Federal Savings Bank, and USAA Investment Management  
Co.,.....Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

Respectfully Submitted,

s/Scarlet B. Moore

\_\_\_\_\_  
Scarlet B. Moore, #72534  
Attorney for Appellant  
P.O. Box 17615  
Greenville, S.C. 29606  
(864) 214-5805  
(864) 752-0930 (FAX)

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err in granting the motions for summary judgment filed by the Respondents Phyllis Jean Krohn, USAA Federal Savings Bank and USAA Investment Management Co., respectively?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is an appeal of the trial court's orders granting summary judgment to the Respondents and dismissing the Appellant's complaint and all causes of action in the above titled matter. (R. pp. 1-22;) This matter was initiated by the Appellant, Karen Petit, filing a Summons and Complaint seeking damages pursuant to multiple causes of action arising from the settlement of a USAA IRA account worth \$454,332.00 held by the Appellant's Father, Dr. Edward Petit, who died on March 18, 2015. (R. pp. 35-45;) During Dr. Petit's lifetime, the Appellant had actual knowledge that she and her sister were the beneficiaries of the USAA IRA policy, with the sister's portion to be held in trust. (R. pp. 101-104;) On or about January 15, 2007, Dr. Petit executed a form entitled "Individual Retirement Account Designation of Beneficiary" form entirely in his handwriting, in which he named Karen (NMI) Petit and Kathy Elise Petit Trust as the beneficiaries. (R. pp. 101-104.) However, subsequent to Dr. Petit's death on March 18, 2015, the Appellant learned in 2017 that a change of beneficiary form had been executed on or about January 23, 2012, changing the beneficiaries from the Appellant and her sister in trust, to the Appellant's nieces. (R. pp. 149-152.) During Dr. Petit's lifetime and during the time that the change of beneficiary form would have been executed, the Respondent Phyllis Jean Krohn served as a companion to him. Given the fact that the beneficiaries had been changed without her knowledge, the Appellant on or about June, 2017, asked Ms. Krohn whether or not she knew how the IRA was changed. Ms. Krohn replied, "I did it." (R. p. 673, lines 15-21; p. 695, lines 5-11; p. 743, lines 11-21.) The Appellant asked her why she changed it, and Ms. Krohn advised that the Appellant's Father wanted to do something nice for his granddaughters and that Ms. Krohn had decided that this is what he could do – provide for them through the USAA IRA. (R. p. 695, lines 5-11.) Subsequently, Ms. Krohn apologized to the Appellant saying, "I'm so sorry,

I'm so sorry, you don't know how often I regretted the things that I did with your Dad." (R. p. 743, lines 11-21.) At the summary judgment hearing, the Appellant submitted an affidavit of Wallace M. Dorn corroborating the Appellant's recollection of the confrontation that took place between the Appellant and Ms. Krohn. (R. pp. 873-874; R. pp. 233-240;) Mr. Dorn described witnessing the conversation between the Appellant and Ms. Krohn, and observed that the Appellant was distraught and upset. (R. pp. 873-874; R. pp. 233-240;)

The Appellant eventually learned that on or about January 23, 2012, Ms. Krohn had completely filled out a USAA form entitled "Individual Retirement Account Designation of Beneficiary," which permitted Ms. Krohn to change the beneficiaries to the Appellant's nieces, with the form being signed by Dr. Petit. (R. pp.149-152;) The deposition testimony of Ms. Krohn also established that an agent for the company from Houston, Texas actually visited the home of Dr. Petit in Greenwood, S.C. to discuss financial accounts and services available to him through USAA on or about Fall of 2011. (R. p. 553, lines 15-21; R. p. 555, lines 1-10.) And, according to Ms. Krohn's deposition, USAA's agent provided the change of beneficiary form after visiting with Dr. Petit and Defendant Krohn in the Fall of 2011. (R. p. 554, lines 17-25; R. p. 555, lines 1-10.) The Appellant also learned that on or about January 26, 2009, Dr. Petit had executed a USAA Power of Attorney in favor of Ms. Krohn. (R. pp. 105-109;) The power of attorney was not executed pursuant to South Carolina law (which requires two (2) witnesses), and the document contains a specific limitation in section 1(d) which states:

"Limitations: My attorney does not have the authority to make himself or herself or others the co-owner or beneficiary of such investment accounts; does not have the authority to change ownership of such investment accounts; does not have a power of appointment over such investment accounts....."

The Appellant presented evidence at the summary judgment hearing that immediately

prior to her Father signing the change of beneficiary form in favor of the nieces, the 87 year-old Dr. Petit lost consciousness while on a cruise from Miami, and was taken from the ship to a hospital in Key West, Florida. (R. p. 550, line 19; p. 535 lines 8-12; p. 536, lines 2-9.) The hospital in Key West could not control Dr. Petit's heart condition and sent him to a hospital in Miami. (R. p. 536, lines 20-25; p. 537, lines 1-13.) While in Miami, Dr. Petit had a heart catheterization, a heart ablation, and a defibrillator and pacemaker implantation, and was in either ICU or CCU. (R. p. 536, lines 10-15; p. 539;) (R. p. 662, lines 22-24.) When he was discharged from the hospital on January 22, 2012, Dr. Petit was not fully recovered. (R. p. 548, lines 5-7; p. 548, lines 11-15.) Even though Dr. Petit was not fully recovered and continued taking pain medication, he signed the beneficiary designation form in favor of the nieces the day after he was discharged from the hospital. However, Ms. Krohn testified in her deposition that she could not remember if she saw him sign it. (R. p. 557, lines 14-22.) However, Ms. Krohn admitted in deposition and requests to admit that she completed the change of beneficiary form and all the printed handwriting on the form is hers. (R. p. 551, lines 24-25; p. 552, lines 1-16;) (R. pp. 233-240; R. pp. 149-152;)

As stated, the Appellant filed suit on or about November 8, 2017, with the Greenwood County Court of Common Pleas naming USAA Federal Savings Bank and USAA Investment Management Co., and Phyllis Jean Krohn as Defendants. (R. pp. 35-45.) All Respondents filed Answers to the Plaintiff's Complaint. (R. pp. 53-66; R. pp. 46-51.) The parties engaged in some discovery, but discovery was not complete as of the time of the summary judgment motions. The Appellant was in the process of gathering additional medical information from the hospital in Miami, Florida, where her Father was taken after his medical emergency issues on the cruise ship. On or about May 2, 2019, Respondents USAA filed a motion for summary judgment

asking the court to dismiss all of the Appellant's causes of action. (R. pp. 67-68.)) The Respondent Ms. Krohn filed a motion for summary judgment on or about August 5, 2019, asking for the same relief. The parties appeared before Judge Donald Hocker on September 4, 2019, for a hearing pursuant to the Defendants' motions for summary judgment. (R. pp. 848-872.) The Appellant filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Summary Judgment Motions. (R. pp. 233-240.) On January 15, 2020, Judge Hocker filed two separate orders granting the Respondents' motions. (R. pp. 1-22.) The Appellant timely filed a motion to reconsider both orders on or about January 27, 2020. (R. pp. 308-314.) Judge Hocker denied the Appellant's motion to reconsider both orders in separate orders filed on May 20, 2020. (R. pp. 23-34.) The Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on June 17, 2020.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56, SCRPC. *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010). "In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the [nonmoving] party is only required to submit a . . . scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment." *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that great care should be used in the consideration of summary judgment motions. "Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *Carolina All. For Fair Emp't. v. S.C. Dept. of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 799 (Ct. App. 1999)(citing *Etheredge v. Richland Sch. Dist. I*, 330 S.C. 447, 499 S.E. 2d 238 (Ct. App. 1998.)

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANT PHYLLIS JEAN KROHN.

The trial court clearly erred in granting Respondent Phyllis Jean Krohn's motion for summary judgment in the case at bar. "Summary judgment is appropriate 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.'" *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 217, 578 S.E.2d 329, 334 (2003) (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRPC). Once the moving party meets this initial burden, the nonmoving party cannot simply rest on the allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Rule 56(e), SCRPC. "[T]he nonmoving party must do more than 'simply show that there is a metaphysical doubt as to the material facts but must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.'" *Grimsley v. S.C. Law Enft Div.*, 415 S.C. 33, 42, 780 S.E.2d 897, 901 (2015) (quoting *Russell*, 353 S.C. at 220, 578 S.E.2d at 335). "Only disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit . . . will properly preclude the entry of summary judgment." *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).

"In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Grimsley*, 415 S.C. at 40, 780 S.E.2d at 900 (quoting *Quail Hill, LLC*, 387 S.C. at 235, 692 S.E.2d at 505). Summary judgment may be granted when the evidence is capable of only one reasonable interpretation. *Bell v. Progressive Direct Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 565, 576, 757 S.E.2d 399, 404 (2014). However, summary judgment is a drastic remedy that "should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues."

Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991) (quoting Watson v. S. Ry. Co., 420 F. Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C. 1975).

“Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” Carolina, supra, at 485, 523 S.E. 2d at 799 (citing Gilliland v. Elmwood Properties, 301 S.C. 295, 391 S.E.2d 577 (1990). Questions of credibility make summary judgment inappropriate. Hansen v. DHL Labs., Inc., 316 S.C. 505, 513, 450 S.E.2d 624, 628 (Ct. App. 1994), decision affirmed, 319 S.C. 79, 459 S.E.2d 850 (1995).

In reviewing the trial court’s orders granting summary judgment to both defendants, it is clear that the court did not view the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellant, the non-moving party. The court’s orders focus on the factual summaries provided by the Respondents and are largely supported by the Respondents’ discovery and Ms. Krohn’s deposition testimony. The trial court did not apply the standards in the law of summary judgment as recited above. Specifically, the trial court reached conclusions and inferences of the credibility of the Appellant’s evidence presented, contrary to Carolina and Hansen, supra. A review of the evidence and arguments of Appellant’s counsel as recited below will bring this Honorable Court to the conclusion that summary judgment was improperly granted in favor of all defendants in this case, and the orders of Judge Hocker should be reversed.

### ***Interference with a Contractual Relationship***

The Appellant soundly plead that Respondent Phyllis Jean Krohn interfered with a contractual relationship formed pursuant to the facts of this case, which caused damages to the

Appellant Karen Petit. The elements of a cause of action for tortious interference with contract are: (1) existence of a valid contract; (2) the wrongdoer's knowledge thereof; (3) his intentional procurement of its breach; (4) the absence of justification; and (5) resulting damages.” Camp v. Springs Mortgage Corp., 310 S.C. 514, 517, 426 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1993). “[A]n action for tortious interference protects the property rights of the parties to a contract against unlawful interference by third parties.” Threlkeld v. Christoph, 280 S.C. 225, 227, 312 S.E.2d 14, 15 (Ct.App.1984). “Therefore, it does not protect a party to a contract from actions of the other party.” Id. Dutch Fork Dev. Grp. II, LLC v. Sel Props., LLC, 406 S.C. 596, 753 S.E.2d 840 (S.C. 2012)

Additionally, South Carolina has specifically adopted the tort of intentional interference with prospective contractual relations. Crandall Corp. v. Navistar Int’l Transp. Corp., 302 S.C. 265, 395 S.E.2d 179 (1990). Crandall is a case in which the S.C. Supreme Court reversed the grant of summary judgment by the trial court finding that no such cause of action existed in the law of South Carolina. In reversing, the S.C. Supreme Court held that the Petitioners had furthered a sound cause of action, and the elements that a Plaintiff must prove are that (1) the Defendant intentionally interfered with the plaintiff’s potential contractual relations; (2) for an improper purpose or by improper methods; (3) causing injury to the plaintiff. Further, if a defendant acts for more than one purpose (which the record of this case is devoid of any other purpose than a sinister one by Ms. Krohn), the improper purpose must predominate in order to create liability. Alternatively, a plaintiff can prove that the defendant’s method of interference was improper under the circumstances – which in this case was clearly established by Ms. Krohn’s own admissions regarding the change of beneficiary form and her acting outside the scope of the USAA Power of Attorney. This cause of action is precisely what is alleged in the

Appellant's complaint, and the admissions of Ms. Krohn in her deposition establishes much more than a scintilla of evidence when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, the Appellant Karen Petit. Further, inconsistencies between the 2012 form and the 2007 form offer additional facts which make summary judgment inappropriate. The beneficiary designation form completed in 2007 listed "Karen (NMI) Petit and Kathy Elise Petit Trust" as the beneficiaries, but the 2012 form lists "Karen Petit and Kathy Elise Petit" as contingent beneficiaries, despite the fact that there had been no material change in Kathy's circumstances at the execution of the second form. (R. pp. 101-109.)

Further, the facts are undisputed that USAA entered into a valid contract with Dr. Petit, given the admission of such in the pre-trial discovery process by the USAA defendants. (R. pp. 53-66.) It is also undisputed that the Appellant was a beneficiary of the contract, and undisputed that Ms. Krohn had actual knowledge of the account given her status as USAA Power of Attorney and her admitted act of changing the beneficiaries on the USAA form. (R. pp. 503-584.) There is also no doubt that Ms. Krohn's interference with the contract caused damages to the Appellant.

In the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of Ms. Krohn finding no scintilla of evidence supporting the facts viewed in the light most favorable to the Appellant Karen Petit regarding interference of a contractual relationship, the court errs in finding that Ms. Petit has a mere "expectancy in the benefits" of the IRA account, and thus no vested interest and standing to bring the present action, citing wholly inapplicable cases from jurisdictions not controlling in South Carolina. As an initial matter, the Respondents stipulated at the summary judgment motion hearing that the issue squarely presented to the court in this case of the Appellant's standing to pursue this matter as a contingent beneficiary of an IRA appears to be

one of first impression in South Carolina – thus would explain the trial court’s citation of cases in jurisdictions outside South Carolina. Also cited by the trial court in its order granting Ms. Krohn’s motion is the case of *Stribling v. Stribling*, 369 S.C. 400, 406, 632 S.E. 2d 291, 294 (Ct. App. 2006). *Stribling* is particularly inapplicable to the overall facts at bar. However, contrary to the assertions of the Respondents in their summary judgment motions and accompanying memoranda, the *Stribling* case actually supports the conclusion that the Appellant had standing to bring her claims as her Father was deceased at the time of the filing of the lawsuit and unable to change the beneficiaries. The case of *Stribling* involved a dispute about a former spouse’s entitlement to IRA funds given a valid marital settlement agreement entered in the Family Court wherein the Wife waived her rights to certain retirement accounts, but yet was still named as the beneficiary of an IRA policy at the time of the deceased husband’s death. The court in *Stribling in mere dicta* points out that the Wife had a mere expectancy of benefits given her status as the named beneficiary to the IRA account and not a vested interest such that would defeat the valid marital settlement agreement entered in Family Court. This dicta can hardly be used by this Honorable Appellate Court to close the courthouse doors to the Appellant Karen Petit by challenging her basic standing to assert a cause of action which is clearly justiciable in the Courts of South Carolina. The trial court’s interpretation and application of the alleged principle in *Stribling* of “mere expectancy” would bar litigants such as Ms. Petit to file lawsuits against wrongdoers (particularly those wrongdoers who admit their bad acts at the inception of a lawsuit as is present in this case) and would yield absurd results. Ms. Petit ultimately was not the beneficiary who received the proceeds of the USAA IRA – so the question becomes at what point would she have had standing to challenge the bad acts of Ms. Krohn if she could not do it during the lifetime of Dr. Petit, nor following his death due to the fact that she was not the vested

beneficiary as found by the trial court? Again, the conclusion reached by the trial court's application of wholly irrelevant cases on this issue has yielded an absurd result in barring the courthouse from the Appellant Karen Petit's claims – and she has not had a sufficient opportunity to present her case fully to a proper finder of fact, a jury.

If this Appellate Court were to find that the issue presented is one of first impression in South Carolina as stipulated by defense counsel at the summary judgment motion hearing, the case of *Mayer v. M.S. Bailey & Son*, 347 S.C. 353, 555 S.E.2d 406 (S.C. App. 2001) presents a much more analogous set of facts to the case at bar. In *Mayer*, the Appellants were contingent beneficiaries of the remainder of a trust established during the lifetime of the decedent, their Father. The Appellant children had concerns that the trust was being depleted and mismanaged to their detriment by the trustee M.S. Bailey & Son, Bankers, during the lifetime of the decedent. However, believing that they would not have a vested interest in the proceeds of the remainder until the death of the decedent, they did not file suit to challenge the acts of the trustee until after the death of their Father. The opinion of this Honorable Court in *Mayer* was that the Appellants' claims were barred by the statute of limitations set forth in Title 62 and Title 15 of the South Carolina Code (The Probate Code), affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment. However, this Court disagreed with the Appellant children's assertion that as contingent remaindermen of the trust accounts, they did not have a justiciable interest and thus no standing to initiate a suit against Bankers until their interests became fully vested upon the death of their Mother (pursuant to the terms of the trust). This Court rejected this argument finding that as contingent beneficiaries to the trust that they were an "interested party" and had standing to assert their claims prior to the death of the decedent. Application of the principles of *Mayer* to the case at bar would yield a much more equitable result and conclusion that contingent

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