**RECEIVED**

**Mar 15 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY

Greenwood County Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge, Presiding

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000917

Trial Court Case No. 2017-CP-24-01343

---

Karen Petit..... Appellant,

v.

Phyllis Jean Krohn, USAA Federal Savings Bank, and  
USAA Investment Management Co.,..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS USAA FEDERAL SAVINGS BANK  
AND USAA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CO.**

---

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP

William S. Brown  
Jacob D. Taylor  
2 W. Washington Street/Suite 400

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Appellant Lacked Standing to Assert Her Causes of Action.**

#### **A. Appellant Abandoned Any Argument that She has Standing to Assert Causes of Action Against the USAA Defendants.**

The Trial Court found that Appellant lacked standing to pursue claims against the USAA Defendants. Order Granting Summ. J. at 4-6 (R. 13-22) Appellant did not argue in her initial brief that the trial court erred in finding that she lacked standing to pursue her causes of action against the USAA Defendants, and thus, she abandoned the issue. Arguments not presented in initial briefs are deemed abandoned on appeal. *Broom v. Jennifer J.*, 403 S.C. 96, 115, 742 S.E.2d 382, 391 (2013); *Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard*, 400 S.C. 246, 252, 734 S.E.2d 161, 164 (2012); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994) (Appellant was deemed to have abandoned issue for which he failed to provide any argument or supporting authority); *Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC v. Gilleland-Prince*, 412 S.C. 554, 573, 772 S.E.2d 882, 893 (Ct. App. 2015); *Teeter v. Teeter*, 408 S.C. 485, 500, 759 S.E.2d 144, 152 (Ct. App. 2014) (A party's failure to cite any authority to support an argument renders that argument abandoned on appeal.). The trial court held that Appellant lacked standing to bring these causes of action against the USAA Defendants

because she never had a vested right in the IRA funds. *See* Order Granting Summ. J. at 5 (R. 17) Appellant’s failure to present an argument that the Court erred in holding that she lacked standing to assert causes of action against the USAA Defendants,<sup>5</sup> dictates a finding that she abandoned any argument related to her standing to assert causes of action against the USAA Defendants and the trial court’s Order Granting Summary Judgment must be affirmed.

**B. The Trial Court Properly Determined that Appellant Lacks Standing to Assert Her Causes of Action.**

**1. The Trial Court’s Standing Analysis Was Correct.**

Even if the Appellant had properly raised an argument on standing which applies to the USAA Defendants, the trial court properly held that the Appellant lacked standing. The trial court found that the Appellant lacked standing to assert causes of action against the USAA Defendants because Appellant only had a mere expectancy in the USAA IRA, never a vested interest. In South Carolina, a beneficiary only has a right to sue for benefits if her rights to the funds have vested. *Shuler v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of U. S.*, 184 S.C. 485, 193 S.E. 46, 48 (1937) (holding that a beneficiary of a life insurance policy had a mere expectancy while the policy holder was still alive, and thus, could not bring a claim for damages). A beneficiary’s rights are not vested unless or until, (1) the accountholder lacks the ability to freely change the beneficiaries, or (2) the accountholder’s death. *Stribling v. Stribling*, 369 S.C. 400, 406, 632 S.E.2d 291, 294 (Ct. App. 2006) (“IRA beneficiary merely has an expectancy in the IRA until the owner’s death.”); *Horne v. Gulf Life Ins. Co.*, 277 S.C. 336, 338, 287 S.E.2d 144, 146 (1982) (“Where the insured has

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant argued that she had standing to assert causes of action against Krohn. (Appellant’s Brief at 14-16) However, she did not argue that she had standing to assert causes of action against the USAA Defendants, and thus, she has abandoned any such arguments as to the USAA Defendants. *Broom*, 403 S.C.at 115, 742 S.E.2d at 391; *Savannah Bank, N.A.*, 400 S.C. at 252, 734 S.E.2d at 164; *First Sav. Bank*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513; *Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC*, 412 S.C. at 573, 772 S.E.2d at 89; *Teeter*, 408 S.C. at 500, 759 S.E.2d at 152.

reserved the right in his policy to change the beneficiary, the named beneficiary does not have a vested right during the insured's lifetime.”); *Prince v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 390 S.C. 166, 171, 700 S.E.2d 280, 283 (Ct. App. 2010) (“[T]he rights of the existing beneficiary are inchoate and may be nullified by action on the part of the insured . . .”).

In this case, Appellant never had a vested right in the IRA funds. Appellant admitted that Dr. Petit had the right to freely change the beneficiaries of his IRAs during his lifetime.<sup>6</sup> Petit Depo. at 116:24 to 117:11 (R. 120\_ to 121); *id.* at 156:5 to 157:10 (R. 123 to 124) In fact, Appellant was not the initial beneficiary of the IRA, but Dr. Petit changed the beneficiary to Appellant and her sister in 2007. *See* January 15, 2007 Designation of Beneficiary Form; *see also* January 26, 2009 USAA Power of Attorney (R. 102-104; 106-109) Further, Mr. Dorn possessed a court-validated power-of-attorney for Dr. Petit. February 27, 2012 Power of Attorney (R. 154-160) Therefore, even if Dr. Petit was declared incompetent, Mr. Dorn’s ability to change the beneficiaries of the IRA prevented any expectancy from vesting into a right during Dr. Petit’s lifetime. Dr. Petit or his Attorney-in-Fact always had the legal right to change the beneficiaries of his IRA, therefore no rights in the IRA vested during his lifetime.

Further, Appellant was not the beneficiary of the IRA at the time of Dr. Petit’s death. Dr. Petit changed his beneficiaries in 2012, from Appellant and her sister, to his granddaughters, Leaman and Caroline. *See* January 23, 2012 Designation of Beneficiary (R. 150-152) Then, in 2014, Mr. Dorn, Dr. Petit’s Attorney-in-Fact, transferred the funds in the USAA IRA to the Wells Fargo IRA and closed the USAA IRA. Petit Depo. at 90:14-19 (R. 117); *id.* at 96:13-24 (R. 118); *id.* at 106:9-15 (R. 119) In 2015, Dr. Petit passed away, and the rights to the Wells Fargo IRA

---

<sup>6</sup> Additionally, Mr. Dorn had the ability to designate and change the beneficiaries of Dr. Petit’s IRAs during Dr. Petit’s lifetime. Petit Depo. at 156:5 to 157:10 (R. 123 to 124) Mr. Dorn actually exercised this power when he set the beneficiaries for the Wells Fargo IRA.

vested in the beneficiaries of the Wells Fargo IRA, Leaman and Caroline. Compl. at ¶ 16; Petit Depo. at 106:9-15 (R. 40; 119) Thus, Appellant has no vested rights in the USAA IRA or the Wells Fargo IRA. Accordingly, Appellant lacked standing to bring this action, and the trial court properly granted summary judgment on this ground.

## **2. Appellant's Arguments Directed at Krohn are Incorrect.**

Appellant's arguments related to the standing, which are only directed to Krohn, are incorrect, unavailing, and not applicable to the USAA Defendants.

First, Appellant's statement that Respondents stipulated at the summary judgment hearing that Appellant's standing as a contingent beneficiary of an IRA was an issue of first impression in South Carolina is false. The USAA Defendants brought the *Stribling* case to the Court's attention both in its briefing and at that hearing, explaining at the hearing that *Stribling* reasons that courts should "treat vesting of benefits of an IRA the same way you do with an insurance policy[.]" *i.e.*, a beneficiary merely has an expectancy interest in the IRA until the owner's death. *Stribling*, 369 S.C. at 406, 632 S.E.2d at 294 (emphasis added). Transcript of September 4, 2019 Hearing at 23:11-16 (R. 848-872); Memo. in Supp. of USAA Mtn. for Summ. J. at 5 (R. 75)

Second, Appellant incorrectly stated that the trial court cited cases from jurisdictions outside of South Carolina. The order granting summary judgment to the USAA Defendants relies on South Carolina law. *See* Order Granting Summ. J. at 4 (R. 13-22)

Third, Appellant completely misreads the *Stribling* case in attempting to argue that it is inapplicable to the facts of this case, and that it actually supports Appellant's argument that she has standing, completely misreads the case. *Stribling* supports the trial court's order. Specifically, it states:

**The beneficiary interest in a life insurance policy is analogous to the beneficiary interest in an IRA. Like the beneficiary in a life**

**insurance policy, the IRA beneficiary merely has an expectancy interest in the IRA until the owner's death.**

*Stribling*, 369 S.C. at 406, 632 S.E.2d at 294 (emphasis added). This is the same conclusion reached by the trial court that Appellant merely had an expectancy and not a vested interest, and supplemental support from the well-established law in the insurance context that an expectancy interest does not vest until the policy owner dies or becomes unable to change the beneficiaries. See e.g., *Horne*, 277 S.C. 336 at 338, 287 S.E.2d 144 at 146; *Prince*, 390 S.C. 166 at 171, 700 S.E.2d 280 at 283.

Fourth, Appellant's "closing the courthouse doors" argument misrepresents the reality of this case and undermines the established legal principle of standing. Appellant incorrectly claims that applying *Stribling* would lead to absurd results because wrongdoers who admit their bad acts would not be subject to lawsuits by litigants such as Appellant.<sup>7</sup> If there had been any wrongdoing, which there was not, the courthouse would not be closed to the correct legal party, Dr. Petit, the owner of the IRA, or his estate. Dr. Petit was the party that opened and held the IRA, not Appellant. Thus, he, or his estate, are the proper party to bring a claim, not a former beneficiary. Thus, the courthouse doors were not closed on a proper party.<sup>8</sup>

Finally, Appellant's reliance on *Mayer v. M.S. Bailey & Son*, 347 S.C. 353, 555 S.E.2d 406 (Ct. App. 2001) is misplaced. *Mayer* involved the contingent beneficiaries **of a trust, not an IRA**. *Id.* at 359, 555 S.E.2d at 409. Because *Mayer* dealt with a trust, statutory provisions under the probate code applied. Statutorily, any interested person, which includes contingent beneficiaries

---

<sup>7</sup> The USAA Defendants are not wrongdoers and did not admit to any wrongdoing. Despite the misleading implication that USAA admitted wrong, the incorrect legal argument is really the point to consider.

<sup>8</sup> The statute of limitations ran on Dr. Petit's estate's ability to bring these claims. However, that does not change Appellant's lack of standing.

under the probate code, had standing to bring suit. *Id.* The question of whether statutory standing exists is different from whether constitutional standing does, and is a matter of statutory interpretation. *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware*, 422 S.C. 1, 7, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018). In our case, the probate code is not applicable and there is no other statutory scheme that confers standing upon Appellant, and thus, *Mayer* is inapplicable.

Appellant's arguments are misplaced and incorrect. Thus, the trial court's Order Granting Summary Judgment should be affirmed.

## **II. The Court Used the Appropriate Standard for Summary Judgment.**

Appellant's argument that the trial court used an incorrect standard in deciding summary judgment is erroneous. While at the summary judgment stage, "the evidence and all inferences which can *reasonably* be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party[.]" "it is not sufficient for a party to create an inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine." *Grimsley*, 415 S.C. at 40, 780 S.E.2d at 900 (internal citations omitted); *Evans*, 370 S.C. at 526, 636 S.E.2d at 635.

Appellant claims that the trial court improperly weighed evidence, however, the trial court actually found that she failed to make a proper showing of the required elements of her claims, and thus, dismissed her claims. *King v. Oxford*, 282 S.C. 307, 311, 318 S.E.2d 125, 127 (Ct. App. 1984) (affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment where the evidence presented was insufficient, as a matter of law, to establish several necessary elements of the cause of action).

For example, Appellant cites, as an alleged "glaring example" of improper evidence weighing, the trial court's note that a court order finding Dr. Petit competent was "some evidence" that Dr. Petit was competent. (Appellant's Brief at 23) There is no stretch of imagination required for the court to find that a Probate Court order declaring Dr. Petit competent was some evidence

that he was competent one month earlier. There is no requirement that a court must ignore facts that do not support the nonmoving party on summary judgment. *Bloom v. Ravoira*, 339 S.C. 417, 423, 529 S.E.2d 710, 713 (2000) (“[A] court cannot ignore facts unfavorable to that party and it must determine whether a verdict for the party opposing the motion would be reasonably possible under the facts”) (internal citations omitted). On the other hand, Appellant attempts to dress up Dr. Petit’s alleged hospitalization as evidence of incompetence. The trial court, however, did not hold that a hospitalization was not enough evidence, it held, rather, that it was not evidence of incompetence. Incompetence and medical issues are not interchangeable. “Mental incompetency in its ordinary meaning imports mental deficiency so great as to render one unable to comprehend or transact the ordinary affairs of life.” *Rogers v. Rogers*, No. 2017-002091, 2020 WL 6154306, at \*3 (S.C. Ct. App. Oct. 21, 2020); *see also Zaragoza v. Zaragoza*, 309 S.C. 149, 152, 420 S.E.2d 516, 518 (Ct. App. 1992) (declining to equate a party’s disability with incompetence). Incompetence focusses on and requires great mental deficiencies and lack of comprehension, not just some physical infirmity. No medical evidence of incompetence was presented. In fact, no witness testified that Dr. Petit was incompetent when he changed beneficiaries in 2012. *See generally* Petit Depo. (R. 111-128); Krohn Depo. (R. 130-136).<sup>9</sup> Appellant’s failure to present evidence of incompetence was a proper basis for granting summary judgment.

Further, in another argument regarding an unreasonable inference, related to an immaterial fact, Appellant references Krohn’s purported apology to Appellant as a reason the Court should not have granted summary judgment for the USAA Defendants. (Appellant’s Brief at 23) However, this argument carries no context about how this would have affected the USAA

---

<sup>9</sup> Moreover, there was no evidence in the record that the USAA Defendants were ever informed of Dr. Petit’s hospitalization, and thus, they would have no reason to question any forms signed by Dr. Petit. *See* Order Granting Summ. J. at 4 n.1 (R. 16)

Defendants or the trial court's reasoning to the USAA Defendants' motion. Whether Krohn apologized for her own actions has no bearing on whether the USAA Defendants acted properly. Conclusory allegations are not accepted in an appellant's brief, and thus, the Court should disregard that argument. *Savannah Bank, N.A.*, 400 S.C. at 252, 734 S.E.2d at 164 (deeming conclusory and unsupported claims abandoned on appeal).

Appellant's only complaints in her brief ask the Court to draw unreasonable inference, or seek to inject issues regarding non-material facts, which is not sufficient to defeat summary judgment. *Grimsley*, 415 S.C. at 40, 780 S.E.2d at 900 (internal citations omitted); *Evans*, 370 S.C. at 526, 636 S.E.2d at 635. The trial Court properly viewed the record and did not improperly weigh evidence. The evidence simply did not favor Appellant. Appellant failed to show specific facts showing any genuine issue for trial. Accordingly, the trial court properly granted summary judgment.

### **III. Appellant Failed to Establish that the USAA Defendants Breached any Contract.**

#### **A. Appellant Abandoned any Argument that the Court Erred in Dismissing her Claim for Breach of Contract.**

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment to the USAA Defendants on her breach of contract claim. However, her "argument" consists of all conclusory statements and no law. Issues raised in a brief but not supported by authority may be deemed abandoned and not considered on appeal. *Broom*, 403 S.C. at 115, 742 S.E.2d at 391; *Savannah Bank, N.A.*, 400 S.C. at 252, 734 S.E.2d at 164; *First Sav. Bank*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (Appellant was deemed to have abandoned issue for which he failed to provide any argument or supporting authority); *Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC*, 412 S.C. at 573, 772 S.E.2d at 89; *Teeter*, 408 S.C. at 500, 759 S.E.2d at 152 (A party's failure to cite any authority to support an argument renders that argument abandoned on appeal.). Because Appellant failed to make a proper argument and

support her conclusory allegation with any jurisprudence, she has abandoned her argument. Accordingly, her argument should be disregarded, and the trial court's order dismissing her breach of contract claim should be affirmed.

**B. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Appellant's Breach of Contract Claim.**

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